Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/molcata

Review Pd-catalyzed oxidation of alkynes

Jacques Muzart*

Institut de Chimie Moléculaire de Reims, UMR 6229, CNRS – Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne, B.P. 1039, 51687 Reims Cedex 2, France

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 3 December 2010 Received in revised form 27 January 2011 Accepted 28 January 2011 Available online 3 March 2011

Keywords: Palladium Catalysis Oxidation Alkynes 1,2-Diketones

Contents

ABSTRACT

This review surveys the different Pd-catalyzed procedures leading to the oxidation of the C \equiv C bonds. The reactivity and selectivity depend on the substitution of the triple bond, 1,2-diarylethynes being the most reactive. The main oxidation product, an 1,2-diketone, an ester or a furan, depends on both the used procedure and the substrate. Plausible mechanisms are, as far as possible, provided.

© 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1.	Introduction	7
2.	Formation of 1,2-dicarbonyl compounds	7
	2.1. Oxidation with aqueous nitric acid	7
	2.2. DMSO as the oxygen source	8
	2.3. Water as the oxygen source	13
3.	Formation of esters	14
4.	Formation of furans	15
5.	Conclusions	16
	Acknowledgments	16
	References	16
	References	16

1. Introduction

The oxidation of olefins in the presence of catalytic amounts of palladium salts or complexes has led to a plethora of reports, relating their allylic oxidation [1], epoxidation [2] or the formation of a ketone [3] or an aldehyde [4]. In contrast, the Pd-catalyzed oxidation of alkynes has been much less explored. Their most usually oxidation product is the corresponding 1,2-diketone. Since 1,2-diketones are structural moieties in numerous biologically interesting products [5], are broadly utilized for the construction of elaborated compounds [6] and as photoinitiators for the freeradical curing of polymer networks [7], it seems of interest to highlight, with an overview, the Pd procedures leading to their

* Corresponding author. Fax: +33 3 2691 3166. *E-mail address:* jacques.muzart@univ-reims.fr synthesis [8]. The cleavage of the triple bond and the formation of tetrasubstituted furans are other reactions of alkynes under Pd-catalyzed oxidative conditions. These oxidation processes are gathered in the present review, which is organized in three main sections corresponding to the nature of the oxidized products with, mainly, a chronological account of the reports.

2. Formation of 1,2-dicarbonyl compounds

2.1. Oxidation with aqueous nitric acid

In 1970, Kukushkin et al. disclosed the formation of oxalic acid from the bubbling of acetylene into aqueous nitric acid containing catalytic amounts of $Pd(NO_3)_2$ (Eq. (1)) [9]. Fourteen years later, Kozlov et al. used also aqueous HNO₃, but with catalytic amounts of both $PdCl_2$ and $NaNO_2$ (Eq. (2)) [10]. These last conditions led to glyoxal as main product with a turnover number up to 100.

^{1381-1169/\$ -} see front matter © 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.molcata.2011.01.030

Table 1 Oxidation of diphenylacetylene into benzil



Entry	Catalyst (equiv.)	Additive (equiv.)	Solvent	<i>T</i> , °C	Time, h	Yield, %
1 [12]	$PdCl_2(0.1)$		DMSO	140	4	98
2 [13]	PdI ₂ (0.02)		DMSO	140	2	>96
3 [14]	PdBr ₂ (0.05)	CuBr ₂ (0.1), O ₂ (1 atm)	Dioxane/H ₂ O	60	24	97
4 [14]	PdBr ₂ (0.05)	CuBr ₂ (0.1), benzoquinone	Dioxane/H ₂ O	60	24	89
5 [14]	PdBr ₂ (0.05)	CuBr ₂ (0.1), O ₂ (1 atm)	DMF/H ₂ O	60	24	72
6 [14]	PdCl ₂ (0.05)	CuCl ₂ (0.1), O ₂ (1 atm)	DMF/H ₂ O	60	24	21
7 [14]	$Pd(OAc)_2$ (0.05)	Cu(OAc) ₂ (0.1), O ₂ (1 atm)	DMF/H ₂ O	60	24	0
8 [15]	PdCl ₂ (0.05)	CuCl ₂ (0.05), air	PEG/H ₂ O	rt	10	80
9 [16]	10% Pd/C (0.1)	O ₂ (1 atm)	DMSO	120	24	92

$$\equiv + Pd^{2+} + H_2O \longrightarrow + PdCH_2CHO + H^+$$

$$HNO_2 + H^+ \longrightarrow H_2O + NO^+$$

$$+ PdCH_2CHO + NO^+ \longrightarrow ONCH_3CHO + Pd^{2+}$$

ONCH₂CHO $\xrightarrow{H^+}$ HON=CHCHO

2 HON=CHCHO + 2 HNO₃ \longrightarrow 2 OCH-CHO + N₂O + 2 HNO₂ + H₂O

Scheme~1. Proposed mechanism for the oxidation of acetylene using the $Pd^{II}\text{-}HNO_3\text{-}H_2O$ procedure.

The procedure was applied to the synthesis of methylglyoxal (25% yield) from methylacetylene [10]. Subsequently, K₂PdCl₄ instead of PdCl₂ was used by the same team, which thus obtained a mixture

12), a *p*-chloro (Table 3, Entry 8), a *p*-methoxy, a *p*-phenyl or a *m*,*p*-crown-ether (Table 4, Entries 1 and 2) [12,17,19], but is sensitive to steric hindrance, 1,3,5-trimethyl-2-(phenylethynyl)benzene leading to the corresponding 1,2-diketone in a very low yield (Table 4, Entry 3) [17,20]. The PdCl₂–DMSO system allowed the chemoselective oxidation of the triple bond of (*E*)-1-(2-phenylethenyl)-4-(phenylethynyl)benzene (Table 2, Entry 23) [18]. In fact, 1,2-arylethenes are inert towards this oxidation method [12].

The process was used for the synthesis of tetraketones from the diynes shown in Table 5 and Eq. (3) [17]. It is surprising that the methylene group of bis(4-(phenylethynyl)phenyl)methane (Table 5, Entry 6) and of fluorene was unchanged under these conditions, while that of 2,7-bis(phenylethynyl)-9*H*-fluorene was oxidized (Eq. (3)) [17].



of glyoxal (44–51%), acetic acid (13–15%) and acetaldehyde (traces) [11]. The proposed mechanism (Scheme 1) [10] of these oxidations remains unclear; the formation of [PdCH=CHOH]⁺ from Pd^{II}, acety-lene and water, and its reaction with [NO]⁺ were suggested as key steps [10,11].

$$\underset{\text{(bubling)}}{=} \frac{Pd(NO_3)_2 \text{ (cat.)}}{48\% \text{ aqueous HNO}_3} \underset{\text{HO}}{\stackrel{O}{\text{HO}}} \underset{\text{OH}}{\stackrel{O}{\text{OH}}}$$

$$\underset{\text{(bubbling)}}{=} \underbrace{\frac{\text{PdCl}_{2} \text{ (cat.)}}{\text{NaNO}_{2} (1.5-5 \text{ equiv./Pd)}}}_{15 \text{ °C, 60 h}} \xrightarrow{\text{O}}_{\text{H}} \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} \text{O} \\ \text{H} \\ \text{H} \\ 40-50\% \end{array}}_{\text{H}} \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} \text{O} \\ \text{H} \\ 40-50\% \end{array}}_{3-5\%} O \\ (2)$$

2.2. DMSO as the oxygen source

In 1994, Chi et al. disclosed the PdCl₂-catalyzed oxidation of tolan to benzil at 110-140 °C using DMSO as both solvent and oxidant (Table 1, Entry 1) [12]. They proposed that the reaction is catalyzed by Pd^{II} species because Pd(OAc)₂, which is reduced to metallic palladium under the reaction conditions, is inactive [12]. The process is compatible with tolans bearing substituents such as a *p*-hydroxyl, a *p*-nitro, a *p*-CHO (Table 2, Entries 1, 5 and



(3)



Oxidation of 1-phenyl-2-(mono-substituted phenyl)ethynes into 1,2-diketones



Entry	R	Catalyst (equiv.)	Additive (equiv.)	Solvent	<i>T</i> , °C	Time, h	Yield, %
1 [12]	p-OH	PdCl ₂ (0.1)		DMSO	140	2	84
2 [13]	p-OH	PdI ₂ (0.02)		DMSO	140	4	84
3 [16]	p-Cl	10% Pd/C (0.1)	O ₂ (1 atm)	DMSO	120	24	84
4 [14]	p-Br	PdBr ₂ (0.05)	$CuBr_2(0.1)O_2(1 atm)$	Dioxane/H ₂ O	60	24	97
5 [12]	p-NO ₂	PdCl ₂ (0.1)		DMSO	145	4	60
6 [16]	p-NO ₂	10% Pd/C (0.1)	O ₂ (1 atm)	DMSO	120	24	41
7 [13]	p-CO ₂ Et	PdCl ₂ (0.1)		DMSO	140	12	60
8 [13]	p-CO ₂ Et	PdI ₂ (0.02)		DMSO	140	3	96
9 [13]	p-OMe	PdI ₂ (0.02)		DMSO	140	2	98
10 [14]	<i>p</i> -OMe	PdBr ₂ (0.05)	CuBr ₂ (0.1) O ₂ (1 atm)	Dioxane/H ₂ O	60	24	90
11 [16]	<i>p</i> -OMe	10% Pd/C (0.1)	O ₂ (1 atm)	DMSO	120	24	85
12 [17]	p-CHO	PdCl ₂ (0.1)		DMSO	110	22	68
13 [13]	p-CHO	PdI ₂ (0.02)		DMSO	140	5	93
14 [17]	p-CHO	Pd/C (0.0075)	CuCl ₂ 2H ₂ O (0.2)	DMSO	140	15	69
15 [14]	p-CHO	PdBr ₂ (0.05)	CuBr ₂ (0.1) O ₂ (1 atm)	Dioxane/H ₂ O	60	24	90
16 [15]	p-Me	PdCl ₂ (0.05)	CuCl ₂ (0.05), air	PEG/H ₂ O	rt	14	78
17 [16]	<i>p</i> -Me	10% Pd/C (0.1)	O ₂ (1 atm)	DMSO	120	24	74
18 [15]	p-Bu ^t	PdCl ₂ (0.05)	CuCl ₂ (0.05), air	PEG/H ₂ O	rt	14	80
19 [15]	p-CN	PdCl ₂ (0.05)	CuCl ₂ (0.05), air	PEG/H ₂ O	rt	10	87
20 [14]	p-CN	PdBr ₂ (0.05)	CuBr ₂ (0.1) O ₂ (1 atm)	Dioxane/H ₂ O	60	24	89
21 [16]	p-CN	10% Pd/C (0.1)	O ₂ (1 atm)	DMSO	120	24	49
22 [14]	p-CH(OH)Ph	PdBr ₂ (0.05)	CuBr ₂ (0.1) O ₂ (1 atm)	Dioxane/H ₂ O	60	24	89
23 [18]	p-CH = CHPh	$PdCl_2(0.1)$		DMSO	115	6	80
24 [14]	o-Me	PdBr ₂ (0.05)	CuBr ₂ (0.1) O ₂ (1 atm)	Dioxane/H ₂ O	60	24	77
25 [16]	o-OMe	10% Pd/C (0.1)	O ₂ (1 atm)	DMSO	120	24	61
26 [15]	m-OH	PdCl ₂ (0.05)	CuCl ₂ (0.05), air	PEG/H ₂ O	rt	12	85
27 [16]	<i>m</i> -OMe	10% Pd/C (0.1)	O ₂ (1 atm)	DMSO	120	24	98
28 [15]	m-F	PdCl ₂ (0.05)	CuCl ₂ (0.05), air	PEG/H ₂ O	rt	9	83
29 [14]	m-CF ₃	PdBr ₂ (0.05)	CuBr ₂ (0.1) O ₂ (1 atm)	Dioxane/H ₂ O	60	24	93

Table 3

Oxidation of 1,2-di(mono-substituted phenyl)ethynes into 1,2-diketones



^a Formation of a complex mixture of unidentified products.



(5)

Γ 7

Oxidation of other polysubstituted tolans

[Pd]

0

$R \longrightarrow Ar \xrightarrow{Additive}_{Solvent} Ar \xrightarrow{O}_{O}$								
Entry	R	Ar	Catalyst (equiv.)	Additive (equiv.)	Solvent	Т, С	Time, h	Yield, %
1 [19]	Ph		PdCl ₂ (0.09)		DMSO	120-125	7	84
2 [19] 3 [17]	OMe		PdCl ₂ (0.09)		DMSO	120-125	7	79
	Н		PdCl ₂ (0.1)		DMSO	140	33	5
4 [14]	Н		PdBr ₂ (0.05)	CuBr ₂ (0.1), O ₂ (1 atm)	Dioxane/H ₂ O	80	24	89
5 [15]	Н	MeO	PdCl ₂ (0.05)	CuCl ₂ (0.05), air	PEG/H ₂ O	rt	10	82



Scheme 2. Failures in the effective formation of α -diketones using the PdCl₂-DMSO procedure [19].

In 2008, Alami, Provot and co-workers reported that PdI₂ is more efficient than PdCl₂ to promote these oxidations [13]. Indeed, the amount of the catalyst was reduced from 0.1 to 0.02 equiv. (Table 1, Entry 2; Table 2, Entries 2 and 9; Table 3, Entries 2-4; Table 5, Entry 10) and some better yields were obtained (Table 2, Entries 8/7 and 13/12; Table 5, Entries 2/1, Eqs (7) and (8)) [28,29]. The authors used their procedure for the one-pot synthesis of various heterocycles via a cascade reaction involving oxidation followed by condensation with nitrogen nucleophiles (Table 6, Entries 1-5; Eq. (9)). We suggest that this efficient reaction between an α -diketone and 1,2 phenylenediamine could explain the formation of an intractable mixture from the oxidation of a substrate bearing a free amino group (Table 3, Entry 1).



Oxidation of diynes



Table 6

One-pot synthesis of quinoxaline derivatives



Procedure "**DMSO**": 1) PdI₂ (0.02 equiv.), DMSO, 140 °C, 2 h 2) diamine (2 equiv.), 140 °C, 2-8 h Procedure "**PEG**": 1) PdCl₂ (0.5 equiv.), CuCl₂ (0.5 equiv.), air, PEG/H₂O, rt 2) diamine (1 equiv.), rt, 14-20 h

Entry	\mathbb{R}^1	R ²	R ³	\mathbb{R}^4	Procedure	Yield, %
1 [13]	Н	Н	Н	Н	"DMSO"	82
2 [13]	OMe	Н	Н	Н	"DMSO"	80
3 [13]	OMe	Н	Me	Me	"DMSO"	77
4 [13]	Н	Н	Н	Me	"DMSO"	88
5 [13]	CN	Н	Н	Н	"DMSO"	97
6 [15]	CN	Н	Н	Н	"PEG"	81
7 [15]	Н	OH	Н	Н	"PEG"	80
8 [15]	Me	Н	Н	Н	"PEG"	75
		No. (
9 [15]	\sim	OMe	Н	Н	"PEG"	78



In 1995, Chi, Filimonov and co-workers proposed the association of Pd/C and a Cu^{II} halide as the catalyst [17,18]. The yields were similar to those obtained with PdCl₂ (Table 2, Entries 14/12; Table 5, Entries 3/1)[30], and the authors suggested a catalysis by Pd^{II} active species formed from Pd/C and Cu^{II} [17]. The Pd/C–CuCl₂ association and PdCl₂ have been used as catalysts for the chemoselective oxidation of the triple bond of (E)-1,4-diphenylbut-1-en-3-yne in 40-50% yield (Eq. (10)), whereas 1,4-diphenylbuta-1,3-diyne led to a mixture of compounds containing benzil and benzoic acid [18].

Ph
$$\longrightarrow$$
 Ph $\xrightarrow{\text{"Pd" (cat.)}}$ Ph $\xrightarrow{\text{DMSO, 130 °C, 6-13 h}}$ Ph $\xrightarrow{\text{O}}$ Ph (10)
using PdCl₂ (0.1 equiv.) for 6 h: 50%

using Pd/C (0.0075 equiv.) and CuCl2 2H2O (0.2 equiv.) for 13 h: 40% (10)

In 2010, Sajiki's team reported the preparation, in DMSO, of benzil derivatives from 1,2-diarylalkynes, also with Pd/C as the catalyst but associated to oxygen instead of copper salts (Table 2, Entries 3, 6, 11, 17, 21, 25 and 27; Table 3, Entries 5-7) [16,31]. Whereas substrates with a p-OMe or m-OMe substituent led to high yields (Table 2, Entries 11 and 27), even better than with a p-Me (Table 2, Entry 17), the substitution with o-OMe decreased the yield (Table 2, Entry 25). This could be due to steric hindrance around the C=C bond [16], or to the formation of benzofuran [16,32]. Compared to the PdCl₂ catalysis, the yield was slightly lower from diphenylacetylene (Table 1, Entries 9/1) but strongly decreased from a substrate with an electron-withdrawing substituent such as a cyano group (Table 2, Entries 6/5). Nevertheless, substrates bearing both electron-withdrawing and electron-donating on each ring underwent oxidation in good yields (Table 3, Entries 6 and 7). According to the authors, the role of oxygen is only to oxidize Pd⁰ into Pd^{II} species [16,33]. They however reminded that commercial Pd/C often contains traces of PdCl₂ [34,35]. The proposed mechanism (Scheme 3) involves DMSO as the stoichiometric oxidant, but does not inform on the nature of the anions associated to the cationic intermediates. To the best of our knowledge, this mechanism is the first proposal published in the literature for the Pd-catalyzed oxidation of alkynes with DMSO, but it is similar to the one previously proposed with a Lewis acid as the catalyst, especially FeBr₃ [36].

With PdI₂, PdCl₂ or Pd/C–CuCl₂ as the catalyst, 1,2-diketones can also be obtained when one of the aryl substituent was exchanged for an alkyl group (Eq. (11)) [13,20,37]. In contrast, the Pd/C–O₂ system did not catalyze such reactions [16]. This led us to suspect reaction mechanisms depending on the experimental conditions. No reaction was observed in using only CuCl₂ as the catalyst, whereas no more than 10% yield was obtained with only Pd/C as the catalyst [37]. This Pd/C-mediated oxidation could be due to traces of Pd^{II} contained in the catalyst [34]. The oxidation of pent-1ynylbenzene which provides 1-phenylbutane-1,2-dione in 59-77% yield under PdCl₂ catalysis at 90–115 °C (Eq. (11)), affords benzoic acid in 86% yield at 105 °C with the Pd/C-CuCl₂ system [37]. It has been shown that palladium can induce the oxidative cleavage of the above α -diketone, leading to benzoic acid [37].



Scheme 3. Proposed mechanism for the oxidation of benzils into 1,2-diketones using the Pd/C-O2-DMSO procedure.

$$R^{1} - R^{2} = R^{2} R^{2} \frac{Pd^{II} (cat.)}{DMSO} R^{1} = H, R^{2} = n-Pr, PdCl_{2} (0.1 equiv.), 90 °C, 15 h; 76\% (11)$$

The PdCl₂-catalyzed oxidation of dialkylacetylenes has a low selectivity (Eq. (12)), which is not improved by addition of catalytic amounts of a copper^{II} salt (Eq. (13)) [37].



2.3. Water as the oxygen source

In 2009, Wan's team disclosed the oxidation of alkynes using a PdBr₂/CuBr₂ combination as the catalyst, in a 5:1 dioxane/water mixture, under an oxygen atmosphere (Table 1, Entry 3; Table 2, Entries 4, 10, 15, 20, 22, 24 and 29; Table 4, Entry 4) [14,38]. While the Pd-catalyzed oxidations of arylalkynes with DMSO were carried out at temperatures higher than 100 °C, the oxidations with this method were, in most cases, performed at 60 °C. Furthermore, the exchange of one of the two aryls groups and even both by an alkyl group did not interfere with the production of the α -diketone, the yield being however lower from a dialkylethyne (Table 7, Entries 1, 2, 5 and 6) The authors suspect a Wacker-type mechanism but, despite the experiments carried out for its exploration, a detailed mechanism remains to be determined. Deoxybenzoin and benzoin would not be intermediates because they lead only to traces of benzil under the optimal reaction conditions. A highly informative experiment, performed with H₂O¹⁸, revealed that both oxygen atoms of the diketone origin from water. The formation of the diketone is hardly depreciated by addition of a radical trap, but requires the copper salt, deoxybenzoin instead of benzil being produced from 1,2-diphenyethyne in the absence of this cocatalyst. This led us to suspect that the active catalyst is a complex, either bimetallic or anionic, formed from the interactions between PdBr₂ and CuBr₂ [39,40]. The inertness of the Ar-Br bond (Table 2, Entry 4) and functional groups such as benzylic alcohol (Table 2, Entry 22) and aldehyde (Table 2, Entry 15), which are usually sensitive to Pd⁰ [41,42] or Pd^{II} [42,43] conditions, has to be noted. As oxidant, benzoquinone afforded results slightly lower than oxygen (Table 1, Entry 4) whereas PhI(OAc)₂, H₂O₂, t-BuOOH and DMSO led to much lower yields: 30, 12%, 18% and 14%, respectively, instead of 97% for the oxidation of 1,2-diphenyacetylene. Use of other co-solvents than dioxane (DMF, DME, THF, EtOAc, i-PrOH, MeCN, MeNO₂, Me₂CO) and PdCl₂ or Pd(OAc)₂ as the catalyst were also detrimental to the reaction efficiency (Table 1, Entries 5-7).

Subsequently, Chandrasekhar and co-workers proposed a recyclable catalytic system using catalytic amounts of both PdCl₂ and CuCl₂ under air atmosphere in a PEG-400/H₂O mixture, which is effective even at room temperature (Table 1, Entry 8; Table 2, Entries 16, 18, 19, 26 and 28; Table 4, Entry 5), and also for the oxidation of 1-aryl-2-alkylethyne (Table 7, Entries 3 and 4) [15,44]. The recycling performance of this procedure, investigated with 4-(phenylethynyl)benzonitrile as the substrate, showed, over five runs, a decrease of the yields from 87% to 75%. The procedure is also effective for the one-pot synthesis of quinoxaline derivatives (Table 6, Entries 6–9).

Compared to the Pd/C–O₂–DMSO and Pd/C–CuCl₂–DMSO procedures, the formation of the 1,2 diketones from 4-(phenylethynyl)benzaldehyde and 4-(phenylethynyl)benzonitrile is strongly improved by the use of methods with water as the oxygen source (Table 2, Entries 14/15 and 19/20/21). This difference in the yields is greatly reduced for the oxidation of 1-methoxy-4-(phenylethynyl)benzene (Table 2, Entries 10/11).

Although 1,2-diketones are not produced, it seems of interest to here mention the Pd^{II}-catalyzed hydration of alkynones reported by Utimoto et al. in 1987 (Eq. (14)), which has been used for the synthesis of 5-oxo-prostaglandin E_1 methyl ester (Eq. (15)) [45]. The reactions were performed under ultrasonic irradiation, with PdCl₂(MeCN)₂ as the catalyst, at room temperature in aqueous acetonitrile, This procedure led unchanged 5-decyne, and did not give any hydrated product from 1-octyne [45]. This led the authors to propose an intramolecular assistance by the carbonyl to afford the oxypalladation product **A** shown in Scheme 4. Tsuji assumes that the hydration of **A** proceeds by addition of water to the oxonium unit [46]. Subsequent protonolysis leads to the regeneration of the catalyst and delivers the diketone [47].



$$R^1 \longrightarrow R^2$$
 "dioxane" or "PEG" $R^1 \bigvee R^2$

Procedure **"dioxane"**: PdBr₂ (0.05 equiv.), CuBr₂ (0.1 equiv.), O₂ (1 atm), dioxane/H₂O (5:1), 60-80 °C, 24 h Procedure **"PEG"**: PdCl₂ (0.05 equiv.), CuCl₂ (0.05 equiv.), air, PEG-400/H₂O (4:1), rt, 12 h







Scheme 4. Carbonyl-assisted hydration of alkynes.

3. Formation of esters

The formation of esters from the Pd-catalyzed cleavage of C=C bonds in alcohols was disclosed in 2008 by Wang and Jiang using a pressure of oxygen [48]. Optimization of the procedure, fulfilled with 1,2-diphenylethyne as the substrate, has shown that, to be

efficient, the reaction requires the presence of a co-catalyst, in particular $ZnCl_2 \cdot 2H_2O$ (Eq. (16)). With catalytic amounts of this Lewis acid, Pd^0 and Pd^{II} are effective catalysts, the best one being $Pd(OAc)_2$. The methodology was used for the cleavage of various alkynes (Table 8) and 1,3-dyines (Eq. (17)).

$$\begin{array}{c} \mbox{Ph} & \stackrel{"Pd" \ (0.02 \ equiv.)}{\ co-catalyst \ (0.2 \ equiv.)} \\ \mbox{Ph} & \stackrel{\mbox{Co-catalyst \ (0.2 \ equiv.)}}{\ O_2 \ (7.5 \ atm)} \\ \mbox{Ph} & O_2 \ (7.5 \ atm) \\ \mbox{MeOH, \ 100 \ °C, \ 24 \ h} \\ \mbox{Pd} (OAc)_2 \ without \ co-catalyst: \ 3\% \\ \ Pd(OAc)_2 \ (CuCl_2 \ 2H_2O: \ 43\% \\ \ Pd(OAc)_2 \ /ZnCl_2 \ 2H_2O: \ 90\% \\ \ PdCl_2 \ /ZnCl_2 \ 2H_2O: \ 80\% \\ \ Pd_2 \ (dba)_3 \ /ZnCl_2 \ 2H_2O: \ 83\% \end{array}$$

Fable 8
Friple bond cleavage [48]

R ¹ R	$\begin{array}{c} Pd(OAc)_{2}(0.02 \text{ equiv.}) \\ 2 & \frac{ZnCl_{2}:2H_{2}O\ (0.2 \text{ equiv.})}{O_{2}\ (7.5 \text{ atm})} \\ R^{3}OH,\ 100\ ^{\circ}C,\ 24 \text{ h} \end{array} R$	$^{1}CO_{2}R^{3} + R^{2}CO_{2}R^{3}$			
Entry	R ¹	R ²	R ³	R ¹ CO ₂ R ³ Yield %	R ² CO ₂ R ³ Yield, %
1	Ph	p-MeC ₆ H ₄	Me	89	89
2	Ph	p-MeOC ₆ H ₄	Me	85	85
3	Ph	p-O ₂ NC ₆ H ₄	Me	88	88
4	Ph	$p-BrC_6H_4$	Me	86	86
5	p-MeC ₆ H ₄	$p-MeC_6H_4$	Me	89	
6	p-MeC ₆ H ₄	$p-MeC_6H_4$	Et	86	
7	p-MeC ₆ H ₄	p-MeC ₆ H ₄	<i>n</i> -Pr	79	
8	Ph	Me(CH ₂) ₅	<i>n</i> -Pr	87	87
9	Ph	Н	Me	86	
10	Ph	CO ₂ Et	Me	90	
11	<i>n</i> -Pr	<i>n</i> -Pr	Me	18	
12	$Me(CH_2)_5$	Н	<i>n</i> -Pr	73	

$$R^{1} = R^{1} \qquad \frac{Pd(OAc)_{2}(0.2 \text{ equiv.})}{O_{2}(7.5 \text{ atm})} \qquad R^{1}CO_{2}R^{2}$$

$$R^{2}OH, 100 \ ^{\circ}C, 24 \text{ h}$$

$$R^{1} = Ph, R^{2} = Me: 83\%$$

$$R^{1} = Me(CH_{2})_{5}, R^{2} = n-Pr: 77\% \qquad (17)$$

The mechanism of these oxidative reactions is not obvious. The quantitative recovery of benzil when submitted to the reaction conditions, ruled out the transient formation of α -diketones. Having detected 1-methoxy-1,2-diphenylethene in the course of the oxidation of 1,2-diphenylethyne in methanol, the authors proposed the intermediates shown in Scheme 5. According to them, the dioxetane, which would be issued from the reaction of the enol ether with palladium-activated molecular oxygen, undergoes fragmentation to afford methyl benzoate and benzaldehyde, this latter suffering further oxidation and esterification. We suspect that the enol ether is formed as depicted in Scheme 6.



Scheme 5. Plausible intermediates leading to the cleavage products of 1,2-diphenylethyne.



Scheme 6. Pd-catalyzed hydromethoxylation of 1,2-diphenylethyne.

It is known that enol ethers are cleaved with molecular oxygen [49], even, for some of them, in the absence of any catalyst [50]. Wang and Jiang have subsequently shown that 1-methoxy-1,2diphenylethene provided effectively methyl benzoate under their experimental conditions [48]. The catalyzed fragmentation of enol ethers has been particularly studied by Tokunaga and co-workers, who used an array of Lewis acids including Cu^{II} and Pd^{II} catalysts, and also proposed a dioxetane intermediate, but formed through reactions involving a radical cation and an electron transfer [49]. The formation of esters from the corresponding aldehydes requires comments because aldehydes are rather stable under 1 atm O₂ and Pd-catalysis [4,41,51,52]. Moreover, Wang and Jiang obtained benzaldehyde in 36% yield from the Pd(OAc)₂-catalyzed cleavage of the C=C bond of E-stilbene with oxygen (8 atm) in MeOH at 100 °C for 24 h [53]. In contrast, the same reaction, except the presence of ZnCl₂ as additive, led to the formation of methyl benzoate with a trace of benzaldehyde [53]. Consequently, it becomes obvious that Zn^{II} species are involved in the aldehyde \rightarrow ester transformation. Svirskii and coll. having recently shown that PdCl₂ catalyzes the esterification of carboxylic acids [54], the Zn^{II} species could actually promote the aldehyde \rightarrow acid transformation. We suspect that the mechanism could differ for substrates having the triple bond substituted by one or two alkyl groups, their reported intermolecular Pd-catalyzed hydroalkoxylation affording rather allylic ethers [55-57].

4. Formation of furans

In the course of their study on the above $Pd(OAc)_2$ -catalyzed oxidative cleavage of the C=C bonds of 1,2-diarylethynes [48], Jiang et al. detected small amounts of tetrasubstituted furans [58]. This observation urged them to investigate the reaction conditions leading to their effective synthesis. A screening of Lewis acids and solvents led them to retain Zn(OTf)₂ and MeOH, which have been used as shown in Eq. (18).



 $R^{1} = H, R^{2} = Me (56\%); R^{2} = H, R^{1} = Me (75\%), OMe (68\%), F (79\%), CF_{3} (82\%)$ (18)

When Cu(OTf)₂ was used instead of Zn(OTf)₂, the reaction of 1,2diphenylacetylene afforded a mixture of 2,3,4,5-tetraphenylfuran and (Z)-1,2,3,4-tetraphenylbut-2-ene-1,4-dione (Eq. (19)), this latter leading to the tetrasubstituted furan under the reaction conditions, even in the absence of Pd(OAc)₂-O₂ (73% yield) [58]. In fact, the Lewis acid-mediated cyclocondensation of such diketones into furans was already known [59]. Consequently, the 1,4-dione was retained as intermediate; it seems that the authors envisaged its formation via the oxidation of a tetraphenylcyclobutadienepalladium complex [58]. We have to point out that the synthesis of tetraphenylcyclobutadienepalladium^{II} complexes from 1,2-diphenylacetylene and PdCl₂ has been reported forty years ago [60,61], as well as their transformation 2,3,4,5-tetraphenylfuran [61], whereas into (Z)-1,2,3,4tetraphenylbut-2-ene-1,4-dione has been obtained from bis(tetraphenylcyclobutadiene)palladium⁰ [62,63].



5. Conclusions

Almost a quarter century separates the initial report on the Pdcatalyzed oxidation of alkynes, which used aqueous HNO₃ as the oxidant, from the discovery of the more convenient Pd^{II}-DMSO procedure. Most papers have been published in the last twenty years and concern the synthesis of benzils. With DMSO, the experimental conditions, despite the required high temperature, can be tolerant with the presence of various sensitive substituents. With water as the source of oxygen atoms, the temperature can be decreased, in particular when polyethylene glycol is used as the main solvent, this moreover leading to a recyclable system. A versatile possibility with some procedures is the one-pot synthesis of heterocycles. In contrast to 1,2-diarylethynes, the efficiency and selectivity of the oxidation of 1-aryl-2-alkylethynes and 1,2dialkylethynes are more sensitive to the experimental conditions and substituents, α -diketones being obtained in good yields only from the former. The synthesis of esters via the cleavage of the triple bond can effectively occur whatever could be the nature of the substituents. Another interesting process is the cascade reaction leading to 2,3,4,5-tetraarylfurans but, as for the formation of the α -diketones and esters, the detailed mechanism of which remains elusive.

Acknowledgments

I am grateful to Prof. M.S. Yusubov (Siberian Medical University, Tomsk, Russia), Prof. S. Chandrasekhar (Indian Institute of Chemical Technology, Hyderabad), Prof. H. Jiang (South China University of Technology, Guangzhou), Prof. M. Costa (Parma University, Italia) and Dr. A. Pokutsa (Institute of Physical Organic Chemistry, Lviv, Ukraine) for correspondence.

References

- [1] For reviews, see (a) J. Muzart, Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. (1986) 65-77;
- (b) H. Grennberg, J.-E. Bäckvall, in: M. Beller, C. Bolm, 1 (Eds.), Transition Metals for Organic Synthesis, 2nd ed., Wiley, Weinheim, 2004, pp. 243–255;
 (c) J.-C. Frison, J. Legros, C. Bolm, in: G. Dyker (Ed.), Handbook of C-H Transformations, Wiley, Weinheim, 2005, pp. 445–454, and 492–494;
 (d) G. Liu, Y. Wu, Top. Curr. Chem. 292 (2010) 195–209.
- [2] For a review, see J. Muzart, J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 276 (2007) 62-72.

- [3] For reviews, see (a) R. Jira, W. Freiesleben, in: E.I. Becker, M. Tsutsui (Eds.), Organometallic Reactions, 3, Wiley, New York, 1972, pp. 1–190;
 (b) J. Tsuji, Synthesis (1984) 369–384;
 (c) J.M. Takacs, X.-T. Jiang, Curr. Org. Chem. 7 (2003) 369–396.
 - For a review, see J. Muzart, Tetrahedron 63 (2007) 7505–7521.
- [a) M.D. Rozwadowska, M. Chrzanowska, Tetrahedron 41 (1985) 2885–2890;
 (b) R. Maurya, R. Singh, M. Deepak, S.S. Handa, P.P. Yadav, P.K. Mishra, Phytochemistry 65 (2004) 915–920;

(c) W. Mahabusarakam, S. Deachathai, S. Phongpaichit, C. Jansakul, W.C. Taylor, Phytochemistry 65 (2004) 1185–1191;

(d) R.M. Wadkins, J.L. Hyatt, X. Wei, K.J.P. Yoon, M. Wierdl, C.C. Edwards, C.L. Morton, J.C. Obenauer, K. Damodaran, P. Beroza, M.K. Danks, P.M. Potter, J. Med. Chem. 48 (2005) 2906–2915;

(e) T. Harada, Y. Nakagawa, R.M. Wadkins, P.M. Potter, C.E. Wheelock, Bioorg. Med. Chem. 17 (2009) 149-164.

- [6] (a) M. Friedman, J. Org. Chem. 30 (1965) 859–863;
 (b) M.D. Rozwadowska, M. Chrzanowska, Tetrahedron 41 (1985) 2885–2890;
 (c) M. Mazik, R. Boese, R. Sustmann, Tetrahedron 52 (1996) 3939–3946;
 (d) G.G. Muccioli, D. Martin, G.K.E. Scriba, W. Poppitz, J.H. Poupaert, J. Wouters, D.M. Lambert, J. Med. Chem. 48 (2005) 2509–2517;
 (e) W.D. Shipe, F. Yang, Z. Zhao, S.E. Wolkenberg, M.B. Nolt, C.W. Lindsley, Heterocycles 70 (2006) 655–689;
 (f) D.P. Singh, R. Kumar, J. Singh, Eur. J. Med. Chem. 44 (2009) 1731–1736.
- [7] (a) F. Catalina, C. Peinado, M. Blanco, A. Alonso, N.S. Allen, J. Photochem. Pho-
- tobiol. A: Chem. 131 (2000) 141–146;
 (b) Z. Szablan, T.M. Lovestead, T.P. Davis, M.H. Stenzel, C. Barner-Kowollik, Macromolecules 40 (2007) 26–39.
- [8] (a) For other methods highlighted in reviews or books, see A.H. Haines, Methods for the Oxidation of Organic Compounds, Alkanes, Alkynes and Arenes, Acad. Press, London, 1985, 153–168;

(b) V.D. Filimonov, M.S. Yusubov, K.-W. Chin, Russ. Chem. Rev. 67 (1998) 725-747, Chem. Abstr. 1998: 745976;

- (c) T.S.S. Rao, S. Awasthi, J. Indian Chem. Soc. 80 (2003) 1129–1141, Chem. Abstr. 2004: 702535;
- (d) J. March, M.B. Smith, March's Advanced Organic Chemistry, 6th ed., Wiley, New York, 2007.
- [9] Yu.N. Kukushkin, V.V. Kobzev, L.P. Morozova, Zh. Prikladnoi Khim 43 (1970) 2759–2760;
- Yu.N. Kukushkin, V.V. Kobzev, L.P. Morozova, Chem. Abstr. (1971) 111357. [10] A.I. Kozlov, S.M. Brailovskii, O.N. Temkin, Kinetika i Kataliz 35 (1994) 551–553;
- A.I. Kozlov, S.M. Brailovskii, O.N. Temkin, Chem. Abstr. (1995) 374264. [11] A.I. Kozlov, S.M. Brailovskii, O.N. Temkin, Kinet. Catal. 36 (1995) 205–210;
- A.I. Kozlov, S.M. Brailovskii, O.N. Temkin, Chem. Abstr. (1995) 581421.
- [12] K.-W. Chi, M.S. Yusubov, V.D. Filimonov, Synth. Commun. 24 (1994) 2119-2122.
- [13] C. Mousset, O. Provot, A. Hamze, J. Bignon, J.-D. Brion, M. Alami, Tetrahedron 64 (2008) 4287–4294.
- [14] W. Ren, Y. Xia, S.-J. Ji, Y. Zhang, X. Wan, J. Zhao, Org. Lett. 11 (2009) 1841–1844.
 [15] S. Chandrasekhar, N.K. Reddy, V.P. Kumar, Tetrahedron Lett. 51 (2010)
- 3623–3625. [16] S. Mori, M. Takubo, T. Yanase, T. Maegawa, Y. Monguchi, H. Sajiki, Adv. Synth.
- Catal. 352 (2010) 1630–1634.
- [17] M.S. Yusubov, E.A. Krasnokutskaya, V.P. Vasilyeva, V.D. Filimonov, K.-W. Chi, Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 16 (1995) 86–88.
- [18] M.S. Yusubov, V.D. Filimonov, V.P. Vasilyeva, K.-W. Chi, Synthesis (1995) 1234-1236.
- [19] M.S. Yusubov, G.A. Zholobova, S.F. Vasilevsky, E.V. Tretyakov, D.W. Knight, Tetrahedron 58 (2002) 1607–1610.
- [20] M.S. Yusubov, K.-W. Chi, E.A. Krasnokutskaya, V.P. Vasilyeva, V.D. Filimonov, Zh. Org. Khim. 31 (1995) 1675–1678.
- [21] H.-G. Kim, J.-K. Lee, J.-T. Lee, C.-S. Lee, Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 21 (2000) 345–347.
- [22] The accurate experimental conditions were not included in this paper.
- [23] (a) N.A. Khan, M.S. Newman, J. Org. Chem. 17 (1952) 1063–1065;
 - (b) D.G. Lee, V.S. Chang, Synthesis (1978) 462–463; (c) N.S. Srinvasan, D.G. Lee, J. Org. Chem. 44 (1979) 1574.
- [24] S. Wolfe, W.R. Pilgrim, T.F. Garrard, P. Chamberlain, Can. J. Chem. 49 (1971) 1099-1105.
- [25] M.S. Yusubov, V.D. Filimonov, Synthesis (1991) 131–132.
- [26] References to Chi's reports and to these oxidation methods are not cited in Lee's paper [21].
- [27] X. Deng, N.S. Mani, Org. Lett. 8 (2006) 269-272.
- [28] A reviewer suggested that the higher efficiency of Pdl₂ is due to the participation of iodide anion in the process as for the oxidations with l₂/DMSO [24] and NIS/H2O (M. Niu, H. Fu, Y. Jiang, Y. Zhao, Synthesis (2008) 2879–2882). In fact, iodide has various effects in transition metal-catalyzed reactions (P.M. Maitlis, A. Haynes, B.R. James, M. Catellani, G.P. Chiusoli, Dalton Trans. (2004) 3409–3419), especially in the Pdl₂-catalyzed reaction of triple bonds (B. Gabriele, G. Salerno, M. Costa, Top. Organomet. Chem. 18 (2006) 239–272.).
- [29] In footnote d of their Table 2 [13], Alami, Provot and co-workers assumed that, according to a report from Chi et al. [17], the Pdcl₂-catalyzed oxidation of 1-methoxy-4-(phenylethynyl)benzene with DMSO did not occur. In fact, this Pdcl2 reaction was mentioned neither in this Chi report, nor in another one from the same team [20].
- [30] The Pd/C-CuCl₂-DMSO system led to similar results than Pdcl₂-DMSO for the reaction depicted in Eq. (5) [27].

- [31] H. Sajiki, T. Maegawa, Y. Kadoguchi, S. Mori, Jpn Kokai Tokkyo Koho JP (2010), 2010189362:
- H. Sajiki, T. Maegawa, Y. Kadoguchi, S. Mori, Chem. Abstr. (2010) 1097237. [32] For such a reaction under Rh^I catalysis, see D. Yue, T. Yao, R.C. Larock, J. Org. Chem. 70 (2005) 10292-10296.
- [33] For reviews on the formation of Pd^{II} from Pd⁰ and oxygen, see (a) K.M. Gligorich, M.S. Sigman, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 118 (2006) 6612-6615; (b) J. Muzart, Chem. Asian J. 1 (2006) 508-515;
 - (c) K.M. Gligorich, M.S. Sigman, Chem. Commun. (2009) 3854-3867.
- [34] For examples, see (a) L.H. Kaisalo, T.A. Hase, Tetrahedron Lett. 42 (2001) 7699-7701;
 - (b) H. Sajiki, T. Ikawa, K. Hattori, K. Hirota, Tetrahedron Lett. 44 (2003) 7407-7410:
 - (c) For examples, see T. Ikawa, H. Sajiki, K. Hirota, Tetrahedron 60 (2004) 6189-6195.
- [35] This can lead to misinterpreted results, see J. Muzart, Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 9423-9463.
- [36] A. Giraud, O. Provot, J.-F. Peyrat, M. Alami, J.-D. Brion, Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 7667-7673.
- [37] M.S. Yusubov, V.D. Filimonov, K.-W. Chi, Russ. Chem. Bull. 50 (2001) 649-653. [38] Z. Yao, W. Ren, X. Wan, Faming Zhuanli Shenqing Gongkai Shuomingshu CN (2009), 101337866 A 20090107;
- Z. Yao, W. Ren, X. Wan, Chem. Abstr. (2009) 38426.
- [39] For such proposals, see (a) B.L. Feringa, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (1986) 909-910
 - (b) N.H. Kiers, B.L. Feringa, P.W.N. van Leeuwen, Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 55 (1990) 177-184:
 - (c) T. Hosokawa, S. Aoki, M. Takano, T. Nakahira, Y. Yoshida, S.-I. Murahashi, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (1991) 1559-1560;
 - (d) T. Hosokawa, S.-I. Murahashi, J. Synth. Org. Chem. Jpn. 53 (1995) 1009-1020; (e) P. Szolcsányi, T. Gracza, Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 8498-8502.
- [40] For bimetallic copper palladium complexes, see (a) T. Hosokawa, M. Takano, S.-I. Murahashi, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 118 (1996) 3990-3991;
 - (b) T. Hosokawa, T. Nomura, S.-I. Murahashi, J. Organomet. Chem. 551 (1998) 387-389.
 - (c) M.J. da Silva, R.R. Teixeira, D.M. Carari, J. Organomet. Chem. 694 (2009) 3254-3261.
- [41] (a) R.F. Heck, J.P. Nolley, J. Org. Chem. 37 (1972) 2320-2322; (b) M. Julia, M. Duteil, Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. (1973) 2790;
- (c) M. Oestreich (Ed.), The Mizoroki-Heck Reaction, Wiley, Chichester, 2009. [42] J. Muzart, Tetrahedron 59 (2003) 5789-5816.
- [43] (a) B.M. Stoltz, Chem. Lett. 33 (2004) 362-367;
 - (b) T. Nishimura, S. Uemura, Synlett (2004) 201–216;
 - (c) M.E. Sigman, D.R. Jensen, Acc. Chem. Res. 39 (2006) 221-229.

- [44] The reactions were carried out under air to recycle the catalyst: S. Chandrasekhar, Personal communication (October, 29, 2010). This information is not included in the original report.
- [45] K. Imi, K. Imai, K. Utimoto, Tetrahedron Lett. 28 (1987) 3127-3130.
- [46] J. Tsuji, Palladium Reagents and Catalysts, Wiley, Chichester, 2004, 63.
- [47] Tsuji's mechanistic scheme differs on Scheme 4, the protonolysis preceding the hydration [46].
 - [48] A. Wang, H. Jiang, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 130 (2008) 5030-5031.
 - [49] M. Tokunaga, Y. Shirogane, H. Aoyama, Y. Obora, Y. Tsuji, J. Organomet. Chem. 690 (2005) 5378-5382.
 - [50] R. Taylor, J. Chem. Res. (1987) 178.
 - (a) T. Nishimura, T. Onoue, K. Ohe, S. Uemura, Tetrahedron Lett. 39 (1998) [51] 6011-6014;
 - (b) K.P. Peterson, R.C. Larock, J. Org. Chem. 63 (1998) 3185-3189.
 - [52] The Pd-catalyzed aerobic oxidation of aromatic aldehydes into acids has however been reported under particular conditions: R. Jacquot, J.-L. Grieneisen, WO 2002-FR1566 20020507 (2002); Chem. Abstr. 2002: 888691.
 - [53] A. Wang, H. Jiang, J. Org. Chem. 75 (2010) 2321-2326.
 - [54] K.S. Svirskii, R.V. Kunakova, R.A. Zainullin, V.A. Dokichev, Bashkirskii Khimicheskii Zh 17 (2010) 162-164; K.S. Svirskii, R.V. Kunakova, R.A. Zainullin, V.A. Dokichev, Chem. Abstr. (2010)
 - 1208320. [55] J. Muzart, Tetrahedron 61 (2005) 5955-6008, and cited references.
 - [56] D.J. Winternheimer, R.E. Shade, C.A. Merlic, Synthesis (2010) 2497-2511.
 - [57] Vinyl ethers can be obtained from the intramolecular hydroalkoxylation of triple bonds: (a) Ref. 55; (b) K. Kato, C. Matsuba, T. Kusakabe, H. Takayama, S. Yamamura, T. Mochida, H. Akita, T.A. Peganova, N.V. Vologdin, O.V. Gusev, Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 9988–9999; (c) C.V. Ramana, R. Mallik, R.G. Gonnade, Tetrahedron 64 (2008) 219-233; (d) B.M. Trost, B.L. Ashfeld, Org. Chem. 10 (2008) 1893-1896
 - [58] A. Wang, H. Jiang, Q. Xu, Synlett (2009) 929-932.
 - [59] G. Yin, Z. Wang, A. Chen, M. Gao, A. Wu, Y. Pan, J. Org. Chem. 73 (2008) 3377-3383
 - [60] L. Malatesta, G. Santarella, L.M. Vallarino, F. Zingales, Angew. Chem. 72 (1960) 34
 - [61] (a) A.T. Blomquist, P.M. Maitlis, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 84 (1962) 2329-2334;
 - (b) R. Hüttel, H.J. Neugebauer, Tetrahedron Lett. 5 (1964) 3541-3544.
 - [62] H. Hoberg, C. Fröhlich, J. Organomet. Chem. 197 (1980) 105-109.
 - [63] (a) C. Fröhlich, Doctoral Dissertation, Ruhr University, Bochum, 1980, This diketone has been also obtained from the treatment of tetraphenylcyclobutadiene(n⁴-cyclooctatetraene)nickel with oxygen; (b) J.M. Eisch, J.E. Galle, A.A. Aradi, M.P. Bolesławski, J. Organomet. Chem. 312 (1986) 399-416.